
Naples City Council
February 26, 2026

Minutes

A  meeting of the Naples City Council was held February 26,
2026, 7:30 p.m.,  at the Naples City Office, 1420 East 2850
South, Naples, Uintah County, Utah.

DATE, TIME & PLACE OF
MEETING

Council members attending were Brock Arnold, Nate Zilles,
Dan Olsen,  Ross Morton, Kenneth Reynolds and Jonathan
Beede.  

COUNCIL MEMBERS
ATTENDING

Others attending were Tanner Birchell, Jaime Wabel, Sarah
Wabel, Stephanie Adams, Scott Adams, Dean Baker, Jolene
Baker, Connie Mott, Niles Mott, David Turner, Layken Olsen,
Oaklie Olsen, Kelcie Olsen, Braden Olsen, Richard Goodrich,
Grant Hatch, Leslie Montgomery, Wade Montgomery, Lisa
Wiswell, Scott Wiswell, Olivia Wiswell, Davis S, Ashtyn
Anderson, Benjamin Anderson, Jerry Slaugh, Kent
Bunderson, Nan Bunderson, Alexis Tomlinson, Hannah
Tomlinson, Becky Evans, Denny Birchell, Cindy Birchell,
Michael Harrington, Gwen Harrison, Szeth Simmons, Ryan
Cook, Nathan Simper, Whitney Ashman, Micheal Davis and
Nikki Kay.  

OTHERS ATTENDING

Mayor Arnold welcomed everyone and asked Councilman
Morton to offer the invocation and Councilman Reynolds to
lead the pledge of allegiance.  

OPENING CEREMONY

Mayor Arnold asked for approval of the agenda. Dan Olsen
moved to approve the agenda as presented. Nate Zilles
seconded the motion. The motion passed with all in
attendance voting aye.

APPROVAL OF THE
AGENDA

The minutes of the city council meeting of February 12, 2026
were presented for approval. Ross Morton moved to
approve the minutes of February 12, 2026. Kenneth
Reynolds seconded the motion. The motion passed with all
in attendance voting aye.

MINUTES APPROVED

Mayor Arnold asked if anyone had anything they would like
to follow up with from the previous meeting. Councilman
Zilles asked Ryan Cook if he was able to purchase his crack
seal machine. Ryan stated he was and everything should be
ready to go on it next week. 

FOLLOW UP MATTERS

Page 1 of 11  February 26, 2026



Mayor Arnold asked if anyone had any questions about the
bills. The bills presented were in the amount of  $44,512.34. 
Dan Olsen moved to approve  the bills in the amount of
$44,512.34. Jonathan Beede seconded the motion.  The
motion passed with the following roll call vote: 

Jonathan Beede Aye
Kenneth Reynolds Aye
Ross Morton Aye
Dan Olsen Aye
Nate Zilles Aye 

APPROVAL OF THE BILLS

Mayor Arnold explained the process of how the public
comment period works. He noted that they have a full room
and was willing to hear from anyone, but he asked that if
someone gets up before you and articulates what you want
to say then feel free to let them also speak for you. Mayor
Arnold stated he would entertain a motion to enter a public
comment period. Kenneth Reynolds  moved to enter the
public comment period. Nate Zilles seconded the motion.
The motion passed with all voting aye.

David Turner - stated he does not live in Naples City but
does have property located in the City and  said he does
have a connection to the Naples Park. He said he wanted to
talk about the pickleball court project. Mr. Turner said there
are two types, there is a park and then there is a recreation
area. He felt the pickleball court does not fit a park. Mr.
Turner stated, a park is just an open grassy area with trees
that a family can come, in an unstructured environment to
enjoy peace and relaxation. He said a recreation area is
more designed for physical sports and activities. Mr. Turner
said the area they want to put the courts is used by families
that come to watch their children on the playground. He said
it also adds more congestion to the park in the summertime
with ball games going on. Mr. Turner asked that they
consider the people who live closest to the project when
making their decisions. He said the pickleball courts would be
more suited to an area by the Recreation District or maybe
out to Jensen Park. 

Scott Adams - said he was happy to be there and shared
that he doesn’t really get involved a lot and recognized the
good comments offered by Mr. Turner. Mr. Adams said he
likes pickleball because it is a low impact sport and he’s a big
fan of health and recreation. He said he also likes that it is
something that all generations can play, because it is a low

P U B L I C  C O M M E N T
PERIOD

Page 2 of 11  February 26, 2026



impact sport. Mr. Adams believed it is an activity that
encourages participation by seniors, adults, and also youth. 
He said it serves all generations. Mr. Adams also addressed
the comment about moving the courts to Jensen to draw
people to it and he wondered why they wouldn’t want that
for Naples City. Mr. Adams said he believes this could
strengthen community engagement and provide economic 
benefits because of lower maintenance costs. He said 
pickleball courts are not all about the sports, they can also
provide a gathering place, improve health, and help make
our community an end destination.

Ashtyn Anderson read a statement “You might be wondering
why a kid like me is at City Council meeting. I love the park
and I love pickleball and I think pickleball courts at Naples
Park would be amazing. Pickleball is fun and I can play with
friends or cousins or I can play on the playground if my mom
and dad are playing. In closing, I came because I want
pickleball courts in Naples Park. Thank you.”

Clayton Brown - thanked the Council for the opportunity to
speak. Mr. Brown said he is a resident of Naples City. He said
he plays pickleball every morning and is a big fan for a
couple of reasons. He said it’s been mentioned that it is a
multigenerational sport and low impact, and that has been 
his experience. Mr. Brown said one of the reasons he likes
playing is because he can have his nine-year-old playing with
his dad and there are not a lot of sports that you can do
that. He said he plays with a group in town and there are
people younger and then  all the way up to a gentleman that
is in his eighties. Mr. Brown said it is a very participatory
sport and you don’t have a lot of people that come to watch,
so he felt like it would not bring a lot of extra traffic or
crowds. Mr. Brown stated there are a lot of people he gets
to play with that he wouldn’t be able to play other sports
with.  He also shared that it’s been a great opportunity for
him to meet people in the community that he wouldn’t have
been able to meet otherwise. Mr. Brown felt it would be a
great opportunity to bring the Naples City community
together.

Wade Montgomery - stated he owns a home across from the
park. He said he is not against pickleball, he is just against
the location of it. Mr. Montgomery shared that he received
twenty-three signatures from residents along 1900 South. He
said they are  residents that worry about the value of their
homes. Mr. Montgomery said he did some research about

Page 3 of 11  February 26, 2026



the noise of pickleball and it is a real issue. He said there is
litigation going on in some small municipalities that have
been greatly impacted by the noise. Mr. Montgomery said,
last fall when this was discussed, there was a lot of talk
about compromise and that is how to solve a problem when
there are a lot of strong opinions on both sides. He said the
way to build a sense of community is to come together and
find a solution that works for everybody. He urged them to
deny it tonight and come up with a compromise and
readdress it and do it right.

Braden Olsen - said that he has been to two different
meetings where this matter has been discussed and he’s not
against it, just wants to find the perfect spot. Mr. Olsen
shared that Councilman Morton did come to a softball board
meeting where they discussed the pros and cons. He said he
is all for youth sports. Mr. Olsen said his profession is as an
electrician and he asked Councilman Morton how they were
going to get power to the lights, nothing in the plans show
that. He said, in his experience, they will probably go
through the parking lot. He said he would like to look at the
plans for it and that might sway him one way or the other.
He doesn’t want to see it mess with any of the games or
activities already going on. 

Becky Evans - said she has lived by the Naples Park for
twenty-eight years and has seen a lot of changes and new
people move in. She stated she likes to have all of the
wonderful people. Ms. Evans said there are times she also
longs for the big open fields behind them and she sees both
sides. Ms. Evans shared that she is the President of the Girls
Softball and said she is in favor of the pickleball courts in the
currently proposed location. Ms. Evans said their primary
concern is for a place to warm up and practice, and they do
use every inch of the fields. She said, after discussing
locations, this one would work the best for their program.
Ms. Evans said they have a good working relationship with
the Recreation District and they are helping to utilize the
current space they have at the Naples Park in more efficient
ways and the batting cage nets will be especially helpful for
them.  Ms. Evans said her daughter is looking forward to
playing pickleball with her cousin. She thanked the Council
for their time. 

Niles Mott - expressed that he was serving as Mayor back
when the park was being developed. He stated that he also
served on the Recreation District Board when they obtained

Page 4 of 11  February 26, 2026



the property up town. Mr. Mott said he is not opposed to
pickleball courts, he just didn’t think it was the right spot and
didn’t know why they would tear up the lawns when they
worked many years to get it to be the nice place that it is.
Mr. Mott questioned why the Recreation District would not
put the courts on the property by the Recreation Center, 
that would be his suggestion.

Dean Baker - gave a handout to the Council. He said he
appreciated the comments regarding the City Park. Mr. Baker
said he took two pictures, one of the park with people
playing on the ground where they want to put the pickleball
courts. The other picture he shared was one of the courts
going in by the Ashley Elementary. He said the picture
showed the concrete jungle that the courts were going to
create. Mr. Baker also shared a picture of where the courts
would be located at the park and said they will be right next
to homes and right by the road. He said people living there
are going to have to listen to the sound of the pickleball
noise all the time while people are playing. Mr. Baker also
obtained some signatures of people who didn’t want the
courts, he said they are Naples City residents.

Stephanie Adams - stated that she is in favor of the
pickleball courts and understands that there are those that
want to preserve the past of Naples. Ms. Adams said that
she loves that they are a small town but also knows that in
order to grow successfully they need to keep up with growth
and the wants of the City. She stated that another petition
also went around and there were over 150 signatures in
favor of the pickleball courts. Ms. Adams said there were also
pictures of the courts being located in another place, but as
a mom of six kids, she feels it is a perfect location so she can
send her smaller children to play at the park and still have a
good view of them. Ms. Adams said if they go with a location
further back, behind the third field, they are looking at more
construction. She addressed the concern of whether or not
it was a park or a recreation area and she said there are
already areas for volleyball, softball, horseshoes, and the
splash park.  Ms. Adams said she would like them to keep
growing with the wants and needs of the families that are
here. She stated that she was so ready for the courts at
Naples Park and believed it would help bring people and
revenue to the City.

Heidi Morton - shared that she was in favor of pickleball
courts. She said that she played tennis in high school and

Page 5 of 11  February 26, 2026



loved it but as she’s gotten older, because of health issues,
she’s not been able to play, but she can play pickleball and
it’s been a way for her to connect with her family. She
recognized that there has been a lot of concern with space
and grass but feels the Recreation District has done a good
job of alleviating those concerns. Ms. Morton said she would
love to get out and take a walk and go to the courts and
spend time with her family. She said they recently tried to
play on the courts up town and those were full, but she saw
kids as young as two years old with a paddle in their hands
and their dads throwing the ball to them. Ms. Morton wanted
to know why they wouldn’t want to take that opportunity to
create valuable family relationships in our community. She
felt, with technology, it’s a challenge to get our kids outside
to play and this would bring an opportunity for that. Ms.
Morton said she hopes our community can see the value in
relationships.

With no other comments from the public, Nate Zilles moved
to go back into regular session. Dan Olsen seconded the
motion. The motion passed with all voting in favor of the
motion.

Cindy Birchell with the Uintah Basin Jr. Livestock show came
before the Council. Ms. Birchell said the livestock show will
begin on June 4th with the participants showing goats, hogs,
lambs, and beef. Mr. Birchell said they have about 310
participants signed up this year and what a wonderful
learning opportunity it is for each of them. She expressed
her appreciation for the past support of the Council and said
the City’s financial support helps them to buy prizes and
ribbons. It was noted that sponsorship for the UBJL was a
budgeted item. Kenneth Reynolds moved to approve the
sponsorship in the amount of $400. Jonathan Beede
seconded the motion. The motion passed with the following
roll call vote:

Jonathan Beede Aye
Kenneth Reynolds Aye
Ross Morton Aye
Dan Olsen Aye
Nate Zilles Aye 

R E Q U E S T  F O R
S P O N S O R S H I P  F O R
UINTAH BASIN JUNIOR
LIVESTOCK 

 Micheal Davis explained,  due to a recent bill passed by the
State Legislature, the City needed to adopt the 2006 Utah
WUI Code along with a map indicating the Wildland Urban
Interface areas of Naples City. He explained the bill came

DISCUSSION TO ADOPT
W I L D L A N D  U R B A N
INTERFACE CODE 2006 -
ORDINANCE 26-263

Page 6 of 11  February 26, 2026



about because of the increase in property damage caused by
wildland fires and how that is playing into an increase in
insurance rates for homeowners. Micheal explained the map
was created with the help of the Fire Marshall and State
Lands and Forestry. He said they had a public hearing when
the map was created, but not many showed up. The
ordinance adopting the WUI Code and the map were
presented to Council for their approval. Dan Olsen moved
to adopt Ordinance 26-263 adopting the 2006 Utah Wildland
Urban Interface code along with the WUI map. Ross Morton
seconded the motion. The motion passed with the following
vote:

Jonathan Beede Aye
Kenneth Reynolds Aye
Ross Morton Aye
Dan Olsen Aye
Nate Zilles Aye 

A clean version of the changes to the Naples City purchasing
policy was presented to the Council for their approval. The
changes were discussed at the last meeting. Nate Zilles
moved to approve Ordinance 26-264 as presented. Dan
Olsen seconded the motion. The motion passed with a roll
call vote:

Nate Zilles Aye
Dan Olsen Aye
Ross Morton Aye
Kenneth Reynolds Aye
Jonathan Beede Aye

APPROVE CHANGES TO
N A P L E S  C I T Y
PURCHASING POLICY -
ORDINANCE 26-264

Ryan Cook presented a request to surplus three road
department items. Two of the items were snow plows and
the third item was the recently replaced crack seal machine.
Ryan stated the items have been taken out of service and all
were replaced with new. He said they have been placing
approved items on the public surplus auction website. Ross
Morton moved to give approval to surplus the items that
were discussed. Kenneth Reynolds seconded the motion.
The motion passed with all voting aye on a roll call vote:

Nate Zilles Aye
Dan Olsen Aye
Ross Morton Aye
Kenneth Reynolds Aye
Jonathan Beede Aye

APPROVAL TO SURPLUS
ROAD DEPARTMENT
ITEMS

Page 7 of 11  February 26, 2026



Mayor Arnold stated he would not like to spend a lot of time
discussing the matter of the approval or denial of pickleball
courts at the Naples Park. He said council members have
been able to hear comments from the public,  he gave them
an invitation at the last meeting to research the matter on
their own and come prepared to make a decision, and he
would like to move toward that. 

Councilman Morton referred to one of the comments that
was brought up about the concrete jungle and the pickleball
courts, he said the project referred to by the Ashley School 
includes tennis courts and pickleball courts in the same
space. Councilman Morton said he has a stack of emails in
support of the pickleball courts along with a survey that was
taken with 155 signatures in favor of the pickleball courts.
He said thirteen of the signatures were from people outside
of the area, one was against, and six were unsure.
Councilman Morton stated he has an email from the founder
of the Uintah Highschool  pickleball club that states pickleball
is good for teens and how the new courts would provide an
extra place for practice. Councilman Morton had a letter from
the Foundation for Healthy Communities for Northeastern
Utah talking about the dangers of mental health and obesity
for kids being idle and offering support for the pickleball
courts. Councilman Morton said it is on the strength of that
support that he moved they support and they approve the
USSD #1 in going forward with the project as proposed in
their last meeting. Mayor Arnold asked if there was any other
discussion? 

Councilman Reynolds said he has no doubt that people want
pickleball courts. He raised concern about the additional
traffic and the additional parking needed for the people
playing pickleball. He said if they want the courts then move
them away from the parking lot. Councilman Reynolds said
when people come before the Planning Commission and
want to build, they make them provide for parking. He said
the USSD #1 said this location was the best, but that was
their opinion. Councilman Reynolds said if they insist on it in
the current location then he wants to know who is going to
pay for the parking. Councilman Morton said they have just
built two new parking lots on each end of the park and they
are not by the courts but they could have the people who
play softball use those lots. He said they haven’t been able
to see the impact of those new parking lots yet but they’ve
provided seventy new parking spots. Councilman Morton
stated the west lot would be safer for those playing on the

MOTION TO APPROVE OR
D E N Y  P I C K L E B A L L
COURTS

Page 8 of 11  February 26, 2026



softball fields and once they become familiar with it, that will
be their parking lot of choice. Micheal Davis said, because
Councilman Olsen brought up parking the last time, he did
ask Sunrise Engineering to provide some information for
parking in the lot next to the school. He said he didn’t know
if they wanted the information now? Councilman Reynolds
said he would like to know how much it’s going to cost to
develop because it’s not fair for residents to get stuck with
the bill. Councilman Morton stated, since he’s been on the
Council, they have talked about putting money aside for
pickleball courts and now they have an opportunity to have
an outside entity pay for the entire thing and it won’t cost
the City a dime.  He said maybe some of the money they
have talked about using for the courts can be used for
parking. Jerry Slaugh with Sunrise Engineering shared two
estimates with the Council along with different layouts for
parking on the lot east of Naples Elementary. He said the
difference in cost would be based on rather they leave the
power poles on the west side or remove them. Their
information showed the different directions for parking with
74, 68, or 84 parking stalls. Councilman Zilles asked if the
higher number of parking stalls included leaving the power
poles. Mr. Slaugh stated it did. Mr. Slaugh stated they
estimated high because costs are always changing. Mayor
Arnold just wanted to clarify that approval for new parking
was not on the table. 

Councilman Olsen said there have been several comments on
the legality of what they are doing, he asked Mr. Harrington
if he was willing to address those concerns and if he could
speak to the contract (deed) with the Turners? Mr.
Harrington said his job was not to weigh in legislatively, but
to answer the question about the history of the agreement
based on the original donation of land. Mr. Harrington stated
there are certain types of agreements that have to be made
in writing because certain verbal agreements are subject to
fraud. He said anything regarding land or use of land has to
be in writing and it has to be in detail. Mr. Harrington said
that any kind of verbal exchanges simply don’t matter under
the law. Mr. Harrington said the only constriction on the City,
regarding the Turner property, is for the City to maintain
control and ownership. He stated that he is also familiar with
the various litigation nationwide regarding pickleball courts
and, just so the Council knows, as long as there are rules
regarding lights out at 10:00 p.m. there is no cause of action
for HOA’s or residents because those are the typical hours,
especially for a park, to have some level of noise. He said

Page 9 of 11  February 26, 2026



the level of noise created by pickleball does not get close to
the decibel level that someone could sue over. Mr.
Harrington said the Council has no legal constrictions but
they do have a tough choice to make. Mayor Arnold said he
has a motion and he would entertain further discussion or a
second. Dan Olsen said he would move to second. Mayor
Arnold called for a roll call vote. The motion passed as
follows:

Jonathan Beede Aye
Kenneth Reynolds Nay
Ross Morton Aye
Dan Olsen Aye
Nate Zilles Aye

Micheal Davis explained there is a new online process for
submitting capital projects to the CIB and to have them
included on  a one year plan or the 2-5 years plan. He gave
copies of the plans to the Council. Micheal stated they are
going to CIB in April for the 2500 South project and it is
included on the one-year plan. He said the 2-5 years plan
has the 2000 East project. Mayor Arnold said he assumed
that if a project is on the one-year plan that it has been on
the 2-5 years plan? Micheal said the CIB wants all one year
projects to be shovel ready. Councilman Zilles said it is a
requirement of the CIB now that they use the Utah project
portal and if the project is not in there then it is not eligible.
Micheal said the City has a UDOT loan that will be coming up
next month and it will be to extend the project on 2000 East.
Micheal said they have talked about a parking lot and street
lights on 1900 South.  Councilman Olsen asked if that could
be moved up to the short term list? Micheal said they should
move those into the budget and they would need to discuss
projects, as a Council, that they want to include. Mayor
Arnold said he would like to have a work session during their
next meeting so they can discuss some of the projects.
Micheal said he brought this before the Council because
there is an upcoming meeting with the County where they
hear all of the projects from each entity that they want
considered for funding. 

Councilman Olsen asked Becky Evans what her thoughts
were regarding the need for lights on 1900 South. Ms. Evans
said street lights would be so helpful for people who come to
games in the evening and park across the street, just for
safety reasons.

OTHER MATTERS OR
F U T U R E  C O U N C I L
MATTERS

Page 10 of 11  February 12, 2026



Kelsie Olsen also commented on how wonderful it would be
to have lights. She stated when they leave the fields at night
and they turn the ball diamond lights off, it is pitch black and
you can’t see a thing. 

Councilman Zilles expressed his appreciation to Councilman
Olsen and the concern he always shows for the safety of
people.  

With no other business before the Council, Ross Morton
moved to adjourn the meeting. Jonathan Beede  seconded
the motion. The motion passed with all voting aye. 

MOTION TO ADJOURN

APPROVED BY COUNCIL ON THE 12TH  DAY OF MARCH 2026

BY:                                                   ATTEST: _________________________

Page 11 of 11  February 26, 2026


